IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

CASE NO. 83,792

FEB 18 1995

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT
By Chief Deputy Clerk

JAMES CAMPBELL,

Appellant,

-vs-

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA CRIMINAL DIVISION

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT JAMES CAMPBELL

GEOFFREY C. FLECK, ESQ. Fla. Bar No. 199001 5115 N.W. 53rd Street Gainesville, Florida 32653 (904)335-8816

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Campbell was indicted on January 14, 1987 for various offenses stemming from his attack of the Boslers on December 22, 1986. A six count indictment charged first degree murder (Count I), attempted first degree murder (Count II), robbery with a deadly weapon (Count III), armed burglary of a dwelling (Count IV), battery on a police officer (Count V), and possession of a weapon during the commission of a criminal offense (Count VI). [R. 1-5]

Campbell was convicted and sentenced to death. He appealed to this Court which, on June 14, 1990, affirmed his convictions and sentences, with the exception of the death penalty. Campbell v State, 571 So.2d 417 (Fla. 1990).

Upon remand for a new sentencing proceeding, the jury recommended the imposition of the death penalty by a vote of ten to two. [TR 1159] The trial court followed the jury's recommendation and reimposed the death penalty on May 4, 1994. [R. 472-493]

As aggravating circumstances, the trial court found that the defendant was (1) previously convicted of another capital felony or of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person, (2) the capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of, or an attempt to commit, or attempting to commit a robbery and/or burglary, (3) the capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain, and (4) that the capital

felony was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. It properly counted (2) and (3) as a single aggravating factor. [R. 474-480]

The trial court explicitly rejected as mitigating factors that (1) the capital felony was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance and (2) the age of the defendant at the time of the crime. [R. 483, 487-488]

It accepted, but gave "minimal" weight to the defendant's claim that his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. [R. 485-487]

It grouped together the defendant's claims that he had a substance abuse problem, that he had an abusive childhood, that he was twenty years old, that he had a limited education, that he had a low IQ and learning disabilities, that he was abandoned by his parents, and that the victims d[id] not want him to receive the death penalty. [R. 488] It considered all these claims as a single mitigating circumstance and gave them "minimal" or "little weight". [R. 489-490]

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At about 2:15 p.m. on December 22, 1986, Sue Zann Bosler and her father, Billy, returned home from shopping. [TR 850] While in the bathroom, Sue Zann heard the doorbell ring, heard the door open, and then heard her father make grunting and groaning sounds. [TR 850] When she went to investigate, she saw her father being stabbed a number of times by an unknown attacker. [TR 854] When she made a noise, the assailant approached her and stabbed her in the back three times and knocked her to the floor. [TR 856] The assailant returned to her father, stabbing him in the back many times as he fell to the floor. [TR 857] When Sue Zann tried to help her father, the assailant backed her into another room and stabbed her in the head several times. [TR 858] She fell to the floor, pretending to be dead. [TR 860] The attacker rummaged through the house and searched Billy's pockets and Sue Zann's purse, taking an undetermined amount of money before leaving. [TR 861] Billy died; Sue Zann lived.

Campbell was later arrested and questioned concerning the Bosler homicide. He eventually confessed and gave a written statement, saying that he went to the Bosler house with a knife, that he planned to rob the occupants, and that he stabbed and robbed Billy and Sue Zann. [TR 754 -770]

The state presented no psychiatric testimony. The defense called forensic psychologist Bruce Frumkin, who had seen the defendant professionally five times. [TR 881] He described

Campbell's childhood as, "extremely traumatic, horrendous, ... [h]e was raised in an extremely abusive situation and one which was very neglectful." [TR 883] His mother hated him. As a young child he was "beaten on a regular basis with things like pool sticks, extension cords, telephones, hoses, ... stripped naked ... [and] beaten by his mother [and] stepfather." [TR 883-884] According to Frumkin, Campbell was abused emotionally as well as physically by a mother who spit in his face in public and forced him to clean toilet bowls with his bare hands. [TR 886] Campbell was exposed to a lot of violence and saw his stepfather beat his mother repeatedly and his mother stab his stepfather. [TR 886-887]

Ultimately, at approximately the age of twelve, after Campbell was treated in an emergency room after his mother beat him with a telephone, the state adjudicated Campbell dependent, took him from his mother, and returned him to live with his grandparents, with whom he had lived from birth until the age of six. [TR 887, 908, 946] A physical examination revealed bruises all over Campbell's body. [TR 947]

Frumkin found Campbell to have suffered "a chronic history" of "major emotional problems." [TR 889] He had a "history of psychotic behavior." [TR 942] At eight years of age, he attempted suicide by drinking bleach. [Tr 889-90] He repeated his suicide attempt after his arrest. His behavior was so bizarre he received the strong anti-psychotic medication, thorazine. [TR 891] He never received any mental health treatment. [TR 891]

Frumkin also found Campbell to have suffered since the age of

sixteen from a drug and alcohol abuse problem, involving crack cocaine, marijuana, and as much as twelve beers a day. [TR 893] There was a good possibility that, as a result, Campbell suffered brain damage. [TR 940]

He also found Campbell to function on "a mild mental retardation level or borderline level of intelligence" and put his IQ at 68. [TR 895] He was also "functionally illiterate", unable to read on a third grade level, and suffered from a learning disability. [TR 896]

Frumkin believed that Campbell wanted to be caught and was "crying out for help." [TR 897] He believed Campbell at the time of the offense "was in some sort of daze or he wasn't in full aware[ness] of his faculties." [TR 903 - 904]

The prior recorded sworn testimony of Willy Lance, the defendant's uncle, and Celia Campbell, the defendant's aunt, was read to the jury by stipulation. [TR 944 et seq.] Both described Campbell as loving and caring. [TR 949, 953]

Clinical and forensic psychologist Jethro Toomer diagnosed Campbell as suffering from borderline personality disorder, a condition characterized by deficits in function resulting from his history of abandonment and deprivation. [TR 977] He noted a "pattern of abuse, neglect, abandonment that occurred over time." [TR992] He found Campbell not to be sociopathic. [TR 984]

Clinical records revealed that Campbell had exhibited psychotic behavior, i.e., inappropriate screaming throughout the night and incoherence, at the time of his initial incarceration.

[TR 980] Campbell had attempted suicide, had been placed in a safety cell, and was maintained by Corrections with Thorazine, Benadryl, and Cogentin. [TR 973, 981 - 982]

Toomer found Campbell's IQ to be under 65, reflecting "defective intellectual functioning" in the retarded range. [TR 986] His functioning as to basic skills was deficient. [TR 996] Toomer described Campbell as functioning emotionally in the adolescent range. [TR 989] He noted Campbell's long-term "serious drug problem" as reported by HRS and his abuse of crack cocaine and alcohol. [TR 992, 994] Toomer believed that Campbell was under the influence [of drugs and/or alcohol] at the time of the offense.

Toomer concluded that Campbell's ability to appreciate the criminality of his act was substantially impaired. [TR 999] He was "most definitely" under the influence of a mental or emotional disturbance. [TR 1000] Toomer found that Campbell could sense and express remorse. [TR 1002]

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I.

Campbell's capital sentencing hearing was infected by prosecutorial misconduct which, by design and operation, denied any semblance of due process. The prosecutor attacked Campbell's expert witness as sympathetic to killers of police officers. He argued death as a message to society and as "eye for an eye." He improperly made the attack of surviving victim Sue Zann Bosler a feature of the hearing and offered irrelevant and gratuitous testimony, argument, and unspeakably gruesome photographs for no good reason but to inflame the jury. Inexcusable, however, was the prosecutor's exploitation of irrelevant evidence that Campbell spanked his female victim, pulled down her pants, and removed her sanitary napkin/kleenex. By relying on such impermissible non-statutory aggravating factors and by so inflaming the jury, the state rendered this sentencing proceeding fundamentally unfair.

II.

If there remains any justification for the death penalty in a civilized society it is probably to allow survivors of the victim retribution and psychological closure. No such interest is served here. Sue Zann Bosler, the homicide victim's daughter and herself a victim of the attack, was called by the state to relate to the jury the gruesome details of the attack she and her father suffered. Unknown to the jury due to the trial court's

restriction of the defendant's cross-examination, neither Sue Zann nor her father wanted Campbell to be put to death by the State of Florida. This advisory jury, therefore, recommended death ignorant of the crucial fact that their vote was counter to the profound feelings of the people most effected by the crime.

III.

The trial court prohibited the defendant from conducting voir dire on the fact the defendant was already serving consecutive life sentences for the related life felonies in this case. This precluded the defendant from effectively exercising his peremptory and causal challenges and generated the defendant's death penalty recommendation from a jury whose partiality was not questioned. The defendant is entitled to a new penalty phase hearing where the guarantee of a fair and impartial jury is honored.

IV.

The trial court similarly refused to grant a defense requested jury instruction intended to inform the jury that the defendant was already serving a series of consecutive life sentences. As such, this jury recommended death not knowing that such a recommendation was not necessary to insure the defendant's lifelong incarceration. Because it denied the defendant jury instruction on a mitigating circumstance for which there was undeniable support in the evidence, the trial court erred.

Despite clear evidence of Campbell's low IQ, intellectual shortcomings, learning disabilities, brain damage, severe abuse suffered throughout childhood, and abandonment by his parents, the trial court refused to give more than "slight" weight to these consistent and overwhelming non-statutory mitigating factors.

В.

The trial court also refused to adequately credit Campbell with statutory mitigating factors relating to his impaired capacity despite substantial evidence of them.

C.

The trial court also erred in failing to find mitigating factors at all for extreme mental or emotional disturbance, age, the fact of Campbell's confession and remorse, or the irrefuted evidence of his capacity for love. In particular, the trial court's refusal to consider, or even instruct the jury on, the mitigating circumstance of age where the defendant was shown to function at an emotional age less than his chronological age of 21, was error. The trial court erred in its rejection of all these mitigating factors and, particularly, in failing to allow the finders of fact to determine the latter upon appropriate jury instruction.

Despite the bloodiness of the crime, this crime was not heinous, atrocious or cruel when considered in light of Campbell's mental state. This Court previously found Campbell to have suffered an "impaired capacity." The trial court here, although giving the factor minimal weight, agreed that Campbell suffered "impaired capacity." As such, despite Campbell's brutal stabbing of the victim, his act did not "evince extreme and outrageous depravity as exemplified either by the desire to inflict a high degree of pain or utter indifference to or enjoyment of the suffering of another." As such, as inexcusable as the crime was, it was not the most heinous, most egregious, of crimes.

Ε.

For all the tragic circumstances of this crime, the imposition of the death penalty on James Campbell is not proportionate to similar offenses committed by individuals as similarly and profoundly damaged as James Campbell irrefutably is.

F.

The death penalty is, and always will be, unconstitutional and wrong, especially when inflicted on the mentally incapacitated and retarded like James Campbell.

ARGUMENT

Ī

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT THE DEFENDANT RELIEF FROM THE PROSECUTOR'S RELENTLESS APPEALS TO THE JURY'S SYMPATHY BY ATTACKING THE DEFENDANT'S EXPERT WITNESS AS SYMPATHETIC TO KILLERS OF POLICE OFFICERS, PERMITTING THE PROSECUTOR TO ADVOCATE DEATH PENALTY AS Α MESSAGE TOSOCIETY, ENDORSING THE PROSECUTOR'S "EYE FOR AN EYE" ARGUMENT, AND INALLOWING THE STATE HIGHLIGHT AND EXPLOIT CAMPBELL'S IRRELEVANT ABUSE OF THE SURVIVING VICTIM, THEREBY DENYING THE DEFENDANT A FAIR SENTENCING HEARING AND DUE PROCESS OF LAW GUARANTEED BY THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

From opening statement to closing argument, the prosecution infected this resentencing hearing with utterly improper and gratuitously inflammatory comments and tactics. It made shameless appeals to the jury's sympathy for no apparent reason but to inflame it, contrary to the law, to vote for the defendant's death. The prosecutor's comments, sanctioned consistently by the trial court, improperly attacked the character of the defendant's expert witness, psychologist Jethro Toomer, invited the jury to send "a message to society" by recommending Campbell's death, and exploited evidence of the defendant's bad character and collateral acts of misconduct having nothing whatsoever to do with statutory aggravating circumstances. Because James Campbell's sentencing hearing was rendered fundamentally unfair, and was corrupted by the conduct of the state, he is entitled to another hearing.

The courts have long recognized the duty of a trial judge to protect an accused carefully and zealously, so that he shall receive a fair and impartial trial, free from improper or harmful statements by a prosecuting attorney. Deas v. State, 839 Fla. 139, 161 So. 729 (Fla. 1935); Tribue v. State, 106 So. 2d 630 (Fla. 2d DCA 1958). It is now firmly established that a prosecuting attorney should always confine his argument to facts which are established by the record and those which may be reasonably inferred from the facts established, and when he goes beyond that range he takes the chance that he may thereby cause the necessity of reversal of a favorable judgment. Frenette v. State, 158 Fla. 675, 29 So. 2d 869, 870 (1947).

In <u>Berger v. United States</u>, 295 U.S. 78, 88-89, 55 S.Ct. 629, 633, 79 L.Ed. 1314 (1935), the Supreme Court reversed a conviction when the prosecutor through questioning and argument compromised the defendant's due process rights. The Court noted the government's unique burden of justice and heightened responsibility:

The United States Attorney is the representative not of an ordinary party to a controversy, but of a sovereignty whose obligation to govern impartially is as compelling as its obligation to govern at all

It is therefore established beyond question that remarks calculated to arouse the passions, sympathies, or prejudices of juries, especially remarks outside the evidence and without relation to the issues are to be condemned. Wernokoff v. State, 121 Fla. 62, 163 So.225 (Fla. 1935); Clinton v. State, 53 Fla. 98, 43 So.312 (1907); Pitts v. State, 333 So.2d 109 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976).

Here, the prosecutor impeached defense expert witness Jethro Toomer, not by any lawful technique, but by portraying him as sympathetic to a specific, but completely irrelevant, class of defendants convicted of having murdered police officers. Clearly calculated to inflame the jury against the witness and obtain its wholesale rejection of his testimony, the prosecutor attacked Toomer by insinuating his unacceptable character on an entirely collateral issue having nothing to do with the facts of this case.

During his cross-examination of Toomer, the prosecutor asked:

Q. In terms of some of the cases you have handled at penalty proceedings, you have testified at least three times for and found mitigation for three individuals who have killed police officers.

[TR 1004 - 1005]

The defendant immediately objected and requested a sidebar conference at which he moved for a mistrial on the basis, including others, that the testimony sought was irrelevant, involved unrelated cases, and was only intended to "bias and prejudice the jury." [TR 1005 - 1006] The trial court denied all relief. [TR 1006]

During his closing argument, the prosecutor renewed his

improper attack:

Dr. Toomer testified that in at least ten times or maybe more he has testified to mitigating factors solely for the defense in the case of individuals who have murdered police officers he's found --

MR. LIPINSKI: Objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Based upon the previous ground that you made?

MR. LIPINSKI: Yes, Judge.

THE COURT: The ruling will remain the same.

MR. BAND: -- mitigation.

[TR 1086 - 1087]

By its ingenuous tactic, the prosecution not only appealed to the jurors' most basic fears (of a lawless society in which the likes of James Campbell murder police officers with impunity) but abused its right to cross-examine by implying a bias or misconduct which simply did not exist.

Toomer did nothing wrong and exhibited no prejudice if his evaluations of such defendants revealed the existence of mitigating factors. The implication made by the state, that some defendants (like Campbell) do not deserve the consideration of the law and any one who says they do is not to be believed, is a perversion of the system by which the death penalty is meted out and this Court's established precedent.

In addition, during closing argument, the prosecutor enticed the jury with an uncamouflaged appeal for it to send a morbid message utterly unrelated to the process established to determine whether an accused lives or dies:

MR. BAND: The question you have to answer is does the mitigation change the circumstances of Billy Bosler's murder. The death penalty is a message sent to a number of members of our society who choose not to follow the law.

MR. LIPINSKI: Objection, Your Honor, to that.

[TR 1098]

The prosecutor and his argument were, of course, irrefutably wrong. The trial court nevertheless overruled the defendant's objection but asked the prosecutor, "Please don't talk about messages to other people," whereupon the prosecutor proceeded to repeat, verbatim, his offending comment. [TR 1099]

Also over objection, the trial court allowed the prosecutor to argue during closing that:

"The death penalty has been imposed once in this case." [TR 1101]

When the defendant immediately objected to what appeared to be the prosecutor's attempt to inform the jury that a prior jury had already resolved the issue against Campbell, the trial court admonished defense counsel: "Let him finish, please. Go ahead." [TR 1101]

Thereupon, the prosecutor continued:

"The defendant imposed it upon the victim, on Billy Bosler." [TR 1101]

The defendant's objection to this obvious "eye for an eye" argument was summarily overruled. [TR 1101]

Not content to limit its proof to the homicide of Mr. Bosler, the state made a feature of this sentencing proceeding the injuries sustained by Sue Zann Bosler. The prosecutor relentlessly argued (over consistent defense objection) for Campbell's death because of what he had done, not to Mr. Bosler, but to his daughter:

We are here because this young woman was stabbed about her body and stabbed in her head. This is why we are here.

* * *

We are here because this defendant would look at a young woman actually place his hand on Sue Zann's shoulder that close, look her in the eye and aim this [knife] directly for her face. And only at the last moment when she turned her head he would plant it in her brain twice.

[TR. 674 - 675]

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