IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 83,792

JAMES BERNARD CAMPBELL,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

AN APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA CRIMINAL DIVISION

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

FARIBA N. KOMEILY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0375934 Office of Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs Post Office Box 013241 Miami, Florida 33101 (305) 377-5441

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAY 24 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

VC_

Chief Deputy Clerk

By ___

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

-17-

V. (C) Various mitigating factors asserted by the Appellant herein were properly rejected as they were not established by the evidence.

V. (D) This Court, in its prior opinion in this case, upheld the aggravating factor that the murder was heinous, atrocious or cruel, based upon the same evidence below. In the context of a multiple stabbing case, with defensive wounds and prolonged consciousness of the victim, that conclusion is clearly in accordance with prior precedents.

V. (E) The death sentence imposed herein is consistent with that imposed and upheld in other cases from this Court.

V. (F) The Appellant's arguments regarding the unconstitutionality of the death penalty have been previously rejected by this Court.

-18-

ARGUMENT

I.

THE LOWER COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO GRANT RELIEF FROM ALLEGED INCIDENTS OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT.

The Appellant asserts that the prosecutor engaged in several acts of misconduct and that the trial court should have granted appropriate relief. A review of the alleged incidents compels the conclusion that neither individually nor cumulatively did they amount to reversible error.

The initial focus of the Appellant's argument is on the prosecutor's cross-examination of one of the defense experts, Dr. Toomer. During cross-examination, the prosecutor was permitted to establish that Dr. Toomer had always testified on behalf of defendants, and at least three individuals who had killed police officers. (T. 1004-1007). During closing argument, the prosecutor made a similar comment. (T. 1086-87). Such questioning is a permissible manner of establishing the prejudice or bias of the expert witness. In <u>Henry v. State</u>, 574 So. 2d 66, 71 (Fla. 1991), this Court, in rejecting a similar argument, stated:

. . . Second, the prosecution was properly allowed to elicit from defense expert, Dr. Robert Berland, that ninety-eight percent of his clientele consisted of criminal defendants and that forty percent of his practice consisted of first-degree murder defendants represented by the Hillsborough County Public Defender's office. These questions were relevant to show bias, prejudice, or interest.

-19-

<u>See also</u>, Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence (1995 ed.), §702.4, pp. 528-30 ("In addition, each of the methods of attacking the credibility of a lay witness specified in section 90.608 may be used to attack the credibility of an expert. For example, . . . the expert's past pattern of testifying for one side in litigation [is] admissible to show a possible bias or prejudice on the part of the witness."); <u>Gideon v. Johns-Manville Sales Corp</u>., 761 F. 2d 1129, 1135 (5th Cir. 1985) (proper to impeach expert medical witness on grounds that he had seen 678 asbestos exposure patients, almost all of whom had been referred by plaintiffs' attorneys).

prosecution's reference the to Toomer's Furthermore, evaluations of other capital defendants was no different than the tactic which defense counsel had previously used, on direct On direct examination, defense counsel, in seeking examination. to establish that this defendant was not a sociopath, chose to elicit from Dr. Toomer that Ted Bundy was a person whom Toomer met professionally and deemed a sociopath. (T. 983). Defense counsel subsequently had Toomer reemphasize the differences between Campbell and Bundy. (T. 1001-02). Having had the defense expert engage in a comparison of Campbell with a prior capital defendant whom Toomer had evaluated, the defense effectively opened the door to brief prosecutorial questioning about Toomer's opinions in other capital cases. Just as a defense expert, who bases an opinion on a defendant's past personal and social developmental history opens the door to prosecutorial inquiries regarding

-20-

details of that prior history, see, Parker v. State, 476 So. 2d 134, 139 (Fla. 1985), so too, a defense expert who interjects comparisons between the instant defendant and prior capital defendants examined by the same expert, opens the door to similar methodological comparisons by the prosecution. See also, Valle v. State, 581 So. 2d 40, 45 (Fla. 1991) (by eliciting testimony that defendant was a model prisoner, defense opened the door to testimony about the defendant's misconduct on death row); Atlantic Coast Line R. Co. v. Watkins, 97 Fla. 350, 121 So. 91, 99 (1929) (scope of cross-examination rests within discretion of trial court). Alternatively, any error as to Dr. Toomer's crossexamination must be deemed harmless. As noted by the Appellant, this case does not involve the killing of a police officer. Questioning regarding Toomer's opinion in other cases was extremely brief, the facts of those cases were not presented to the jury, and the prosecutor did not focus on those cases in his closing argument, just having one brief reference to said opinions.

The Appellant next focuses on the prosecutor's comment, during closing argument, that "[t]he death penalty is a message sent to a number of members of our society who choose not to follow the law." (T. 1098). After an objection interrupted the prosecutor's argument, a defense objection was overruled and the prosecutor was permitted to conclude the argument: "The death penalty is a message sent to certain members of our society who choose not to follow the rules. It's only for one crime, the

-21-

crime of first degree murder. It is for those who violate the sacredness and sanctity of human life." (T. 1099-1100). The Appellant asserts that these comments constitute improper prosecutorial requests to send messages to the community.

Most significantly, the prosecutor's comment is not asking to send a message to the community at large; it is not asking the community to send a message. It is simply a comment directed to that segment of society which perpetrates murders. In Crump v. State, 622 So. 2d 963, 971-72 (Fla. 1993), this Court considered the propriety of several prosecutorial comments, including, inter alia, two comments in which the prosecutor asked the jury "to return a death sentence in order to send a message to the community." After concluding that the comments at issue were not preserved for appellate review and did not constitute fundamental error, the Court alternatively concluded that "[e]ven if we considered these issues preserved for appeal, we find that the prosecutor's comments are not so outrageous as to taint the jury's finding of guilt or recommendation of death." 622 So. 2d at 972. While this Court has disapproved "message to the community" comments, Bertolotti v. State, 476 So. 2d 130, 133 (Fla. 1985), this was not such a comment. The prosecutor was simply stating that the death penalty is a message to murderers - i.e., those who choose not to follow the law. Such a comment not only states the obvious, but it does not pressure the jurors to send a message to the community.

-22-

The next focus of the Appellant's argument is on the prosecutor's comment that "[t]he death penalty has been imposed once in this case." (T. 1101). The Appellant has implied that the prosecutor was referring to the prior jury's recommendation and judicial imposition of death, prior to this Court's reversal of the first death sentence. After defense counsel interrupted the prosecution and an objection was overruled, the prosecutor resumed the argument and asserted that "[t]he defendant imposed it upon the victim, on Billy Bosler." (T. 1101). These comments did nothing more than state the obvious, the unrefuted - i.e., that the defendant killed the victim in this case. Cf., Jones v. L. Weekly S29, 31 (Fla. Jan. 12, 1995) State, 20 Fla. (characterization of defendant as assassin was not unreasonable).

The final assertion of prosecutorial misconduct involves the admission of testimony and photographs of Su Zann Bosler and comments thereon during argument. The Appellant has argued that said testimony and photographs became features of the sentencing proceedings. The Appellant also contends that the prosecutor erroneously argued for a death sentence not because of what the defendant had done to the murder victim, but because of what had happened to his daughter. The Appellant's contentions are not supported by the record and are without merit.

During opening argument, the prosecutor first stated: "This is why we are here. This is Reverend Billy Bosler..." (T. 673). After showing photographs of the crime scene, the Bosler house,

-23-

the prosecutor added: "We are also here, Ladies and Gentlemen, because in addition to the Reverend Billy Bosler being attacked that day, his daughter was likewise attacked." (T. 674). The prosecutor then described the knife attack on both the Reverend Bosler and his daughter. (T. 674-675). Defense counsel sought a continuing objection "for purposes stated earlier." (T. 675). The "purposes stated earlier" referred to a prior ruling on a motion in limine. The defense was seeking to prevent the prosecution from presenting the testimony of Sue Zann Bosler, the daughter of the deceased, who was herself attacked and stabbed by the defendant. During the guilt phase of the original trial proceedings, the defendant had been convicted, not only for the murder of Billy Bosler, but for the attempted murder of Ms. Bosler. The prosecution argued, and the trial court agreed, that the facts regarding the attack on Ms. Bosler were relevant to at least one aggravating factor that the State was seeking to establish - i.e., that the defendant was previously convicted of a prior violent felony. (T. 658-59).

The lower court's ruling, permitting both the introduction of evidence regarding the attempted murder of Ms. Bosler and comment on that offense was proper. The aggravating factor of prior violent felonies includes other violent offenses which resulted in contemporaneous convictions along with the instant murder. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Cook v. State</u>, 542 So. 2d 964, 970 (Fla. 1989); <u>Lucas v. State</u>, 376 So. 2d 1149 (Fla. 1979). Not only was the attempted murder of Ms. Bosler relevant to the aggravating factor

-24-

which the prosecution was permitted to establish, but, evidence of that offense was admissible in conjunction with the proof of the prior conviction; the prosecution was not limited to merely establishing the fact of the conviction. <u>See, e.g., Delap v.</u> <u>State</u>, 440 So. 2d 1242, 1255 (Fla. 1983); <u>Elledge v. State</u>, 346 So. 2d 998 (Fla. 1977); <u>Dufour v. State</u>, 495 So. 2d 154, 163 (Fla. 1986) (rejecting argument that the prosecution "went too far" with the evidence of the prior conviction for a violent felony).

Aggravating and mitigating factors are not mere numbers which are totalled when they are weighed. The substance of each factor must be evaluated in determining the weight to be accorded Therefore, when the jury is asked to weigh an aggravating to it. factor based upon convictions for prior violent felonies, it is reasonable that the jury be given the pertinent facts of that See Lockhart v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S131 other offense. (March 16, 1998) ("Details of prior violent felony convictions involving the use or threat of violence to the victim are admissible in the penalty phase of a capital trial. Waterhouse v. State, 596 So. 2d 1008, 1016 (Fla.), cert. denied, 113 S.Ct. 418, 121 L.Ed.2d 341 (1992). Such testimony helps determine whether 'the ultimate penalty is called for in his or her particular case. Propensity to commit violent crimes surely must be a valid consideration for the judge and jury.' Elledge v. State, 346 So. 2d 998, 1001 (Fla. 1977).").

-25-

Furthermore, in the typical situation, the same jury would have heard the quilt phase evidence of both the murder and attempted murder herein, before making its recommendation of life or death on the murder. What this resentencing jury heard was therefore no different than what any original sentencing jury would necessarily have heard as to the attempted murder of Ms. Bosler. Cf., Valle v. State, 581 So. 2d 40, 45 (Fla. 1991) (no error in permitting prosecution to represent guilt phase evidence for sentencing jury in resentencing proceedings); Teffeteller v. State, 495 So. 2d 744, 745 (Fla. 1987) (". . . it is within the sound discretion of the trial court during resentencing proceedings to allow the jury to hear or see probative evidence which will aid it in understanding the facts of the case in order that it may render an appropriate advisory sentence. We cannot expect jurors impaneled for capital proceedings to make wise and reasonable decisions in a vacuum."). Lucas v. State, 568 So. 2d 18, 21 (Fla. 1990)(testimony from two surviving victims was proper, as resentencing jurors must be made aware of the underlying facts).

The trial court thus did not err in allowing Ms. Bosler's testimony and comments thereon. Moreover, contrary to the Appellant's argument, evidence of Ms. Bosler's injuries was clearly not a "feature" of the instant proceedings either. Ms. Bosler gave an eyewitness account of the events from when defendant started the attack on her father until he finished ransacking the house for valuables. This testimony was relevant

-26-
to all of the aggravators established in the instant case. The Appellee would note that the complained of portion of Ms. Bosler's five brief questions and answers, testimony consists of transcript, and describing constituting one-half page of defendant's actions before he finished ransacking the house. т. 862, Appellant's brief at pp. 18-19. As such, said testimony can hardly be said to have been a "feature" of the instant See, Lucas, 568 So. 2d at 21 (testimony from two proceedings. surviving victims, which in part described their own physical and mental suffering, held not a "feature"); Stano v. State, 473 So. 2d 1282 (Fla. 1985) (evidence of eight other murder convictions in sentencing proceedings); Wilson v. State, 330 So. 2d 457 (Fla. 1976)(extensive similar fact evidence that spanned over 600 pages approached, but did not reach, outer boundary where prejudice begins to outweigh probative value); Rogers v. State, 511 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1987) (evidence of two other robberies did not become (Fla. feature of case); Burr v. State, 466 2d 1051 So. 1985) (evidence of three other incidents did not become feature).

Likewise, Appellant's argument of "unfair prejudice" due to "several" photographs of Ms. Bosler's injuries, is without merit. The state would first note that only two photographs, from the larger four photo composite admitted at the prior trial, were entered into evidence at the instant resentencing. (T. 865, R. 357-62). The photos accurately depicted Ms. Bosler's injuries and supported her testimony which had not been detailed. (T. 865). The trial court noted that said photos were not "gruesome" and

-27-

determined that the probative value thereof outweighed any prejudice. (T. 864). There was thus no impropriety in the admission of said photos. <u>See</u>, <u>Lockhart</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S132 ("there was no error in admitting the eight photographs from the Indiana crime. The admissibility of photos is within the trial court's discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent a showing of clear error. [citation omitted].").

In the same vein, the prosecutor's comments, as noted on pages 23-4 herein, clearly reflect that, contrary to Appellant's argument, he was not seeking the death penalty solely based on what the defendant did to Ms. Bosler. Rather, the prosecutor first described the manner of the attack upon the deceased, which was clearly relevant to the HAC² aggravator, and then described the attack upon the deceased's daughter, which was, as noted previously, relevant to the prior conviction of a violent felony aggravator. <u>See</u>, <u>Lockhart</u>, <u>supra</u>. The comments complained of herein were based upon relevant evidence and thus were not improper. <u>See</u>, <u>Lucas</u>, 568 So. 2d at 21 (comments on evidence are not improper).

Thus, as the evidence and comments at issue all related to a prior conviction which formed the basis for an aggravating factor, and as the evidence and comments were all matters which any original sentencing jury would have heard as it would have heard

² Heinous, atrocious or cruel.

the entire guilt phase proceedings, there was no error in permitting the introduction of such evidence or comments.

Assuming, arguendo, that there was any error in the admission of the above evidence or comments thereon, the state respectfully submits that any such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The sentencing judge specifically instructed the jurors herein that sympathy for Su Zann Bosler was <u>not</u> a consideration:

> Although the evidence that you have heard in this trial included testimony of SuZann Bosler and about Suzanne Bosler, I instruct you that sympathy for Suzanne Bosler is not a legal aggravating circumstance.

> You're prohibited from giving this matter any weight towards the decision to recommend a death sentence.

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